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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Good morning.

          3  Today the Consumer Affairs Committee will hear

          4  testimony regarding Intro. No. 813.

          5                 Several years ago, sightseeing

          6  companies started importing double-decker buses in

          7  order for tourists to see the City's attractions in

          8  an open-air environment. As more and more tourists

          9  visited our City, the popularity and number of these

         10  buses grew. Despite their popularity, these buses

         11  posed a serious threat to our environment and our

         12  neighborhoods. A number of these buses do not comply

         13  with current federal emission standards.

         14                 According to a study conducted by the

         15  City Department of Transportation, a sightseeing bus

         16  with an engine that does not meet current federal

         17  emission standards generates emissions equal to 25

         18  diesel buses. The fact that these tour buses tend to

         19  operate in neighborhoods that often suffer from lots

         20  of traffic congestion and pollution makes this an

         21  even more serious problem for the residents of these

         22  neighborhoods.

         23                 Intro. No. 813 would make sure that

         24  sightseeing tour buses not equipped with engines

         25  that meet the most recent US Environmental
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          2  Protection Agency emission standards could not get

          3  DCA tour bus businesses.

          4                 Intro No. 813 would also authorize

          5  the Commissioner of the Department of Consumer

          6  Affairs to delegate the inspections of tour buses to

          7  the Department of Environmental Protection.

          8                 Finally, the bill would allow DCA to

          9  establish a mandatory retirement age for heavy duty

         10  diesel engines in sightseeing buses because the

         11  older these engines get, the more pollution they

         12  tend to cause.

         13                 And today we will hear testimony. I

         14  would like to call at this time Hayim A. Grant.

         15                 MR. GRANT: My name is Hayim Grant,

         16  and I am President of New York Apple Tours.

         17                 I would like to thank the members of

         18  the Committee for inviting me here today to present

         19  you New York Apple Tour's position on the proposed

         20  amendment to the sightseeing bus licensing

         21  requirements.

         22                 New York Apple Tours has

         23  revolutionized and redefined a visitor's experience

         24  to our great City. Throughout our short history, we

         25  have worked closely with representatives of City
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          2  government on methods to reduce emissions. We have

          3  invested hundreds of thousands of dollars in that

          4  effort.

          5                 We agree that emissions should

          6  continue to be reduced in our industry, and we are

          7  ready to commit to replacing our fleet to meet

          8  stricter requirements.

          9                 We are here today to support this

         10  amendment, as leaders of this industry, and

         11  concerned New Yorkers, and also to express our

         12  problems with this amendment's aggressive timetable

         13  for compliance.

         14                 New York Apple Tours is a small

         15  closely-held business, who is trying to stay in

         16  business amidst a very difficult period, and we

         17  cannot finance a new fleet of buses in one year.

         18                 New York Apple Tours introduced open

         19  top, double-decker hop-on hop-off buses to New York,

         20  and has led this industry for close to ten years. We

         21  opened sightseeing routes that brought visitors

         22  seven days a week year-round to places like Harlem,

         23  Brooklyn, the Lower East Side and many other popular

         24  neighborhoods. We are the only company that provides

         25  tours in nine different languages seven days a week
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          2  to visitors. We traveled worldwide promoting every

          3  City in every continent, and we employ over 300 New

          4  Yorkers, some of who have been with us since we

          5  began. Thousands of visitors enjoy our tours every

          6  year.

          7                 This is not the first time that

          8  government has tried to reduce emissions in our

          9  industry. We work closely with the New York City

         10  Department of Transportation and Department of

         11  Environmental Protection since early 1997 to reduce

         12  emissions.

         13                 In that effort, we replaced most of

         14  our engines with remanufactured green engines over

         15  the last four years. We have also committed to using

         16  the highest grade fuel we can purchase to minimize

         17  emissions.

         18                 These significant investments have

         19  brought our emissions levels to inner-City EPA

         20  standards of the early 1990s. We have also

         21  participated in a dual fuel test program with the

         22  Department of Transportation, where we retrofitted

         23  one of our buses to use CNG with diesel.

         24                 New York Apple Tours has been and

         25  will continue to be committed to reduce our fleet
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          2  emissions levels to the lowest possible. The major

          3  problem our industry faced until today is that no

          4  one manufactured double deckers for inner-City use

          5  for the United States.

          6                 The entire industry was therefore

          7  forced to purchase older vehicles with older

          8  engines. All of us would have preferred new vehicles

          9  because of their benefit to outweigh their purchase

         10  price. They have cleaner emissions, they look

         11  better, they don't break down, and they are cheaper

         12  to maintain.

         13                 This year, a manufacturer in the UK

         14  designed an inner-City double decker bus for North

         15  America and we are now able to purchase these new

         16  buses for operations.

         17                 We have already had several meetings

         18  with a manufacturer. I visited the manufacturer and

         19  facilities this summer, and recently finalized

         20  blueprints for construction. We are ready to commit

         21  to purchasing these vehicles for delivery next

         22  spring.

         23                 Before we can do so, we must be sure

         24  that we will continue to be in business.

         25  Specifically, we must agree on a realistic amendment
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          2  to our industry licensing requirements, which we can

          3  afford, and we must obtain financing for our new

          4  buses.

          5                 The way the proposed amendment is

          6  currently written, most of our operating fleet does

          7  not comply with its emission standards, and we will

          8  be required to replace most of our fleet in a little

          9  more than a year with brand new buses.

         10                 This may not be so difficult for a

         11  large publicly held transportation company, but it

         12  is an impossible financial burden on a small

         13  publicly-held company, such as ourselves.

         14                 We cannot afford to replace our fleet

         15  this quickly, and we require a reasonable transition

         16  period to remain in business.

         17                 We propose that the amendment be

         18  changed to apply a percentage of each company's

         19  fleet over a five-year period of time at a 20

         20  percent increase per year.

         21                 This would enable us to afford to

         22  purchase new buses each year and retire old ones,

         23  while staying in business and ultimately meeting the

         24  amendment's objectives.

         25                 New York Apple Tours request the
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          2  opportunity to continue to be a leader in this

          3  industry. We have worked too hard and invested so

          4  much in New York. Give us the chance to stay in

          5  business and serve our visitors. The amendment as

          6  written will be an enormous hardship and may well

          7  shut us down.

          8                 With the inclusion of a transition

          9  period, we and other small companies will be able to

         10  meet the amendments objectives, enhance the

         11  industry's image and maintain healthy competition in

         12  our City.

         13                 I thank all of the members of the

         14  Committee for inviting me here today.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         16                 Before we continue I would like to

         17  recognize my colleagues. To my left, Stephen Fiala,

         18  from Staten Island, and Annette Robinson from

         19  Brooklyn, and Nelson Perez, Counsel to the

         20  Committee.

         21                 I would like to ask you a few

         22  questions.

         23                 How many buses does your company own

         24  and operate in New York City?

         25                 MR. GRANT: Right now we operate
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          2  currently 25 buses.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Twenty-five

          4  buses. And how many buses do you currently operate

          5  which fail to meet with current EPA emission

          6  standards?

          7                 MR. GRANT: Year 2000 EPA standards?

          8  None of our buses meet that standard.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And does your

         10  company plan on purchasing more of these buses, I

         11  think you said in the future?

         12                 MR. GRANT: We plan on purchasing

         13  brand new buses and replacing our existing fleet

         14  with new buses, but we need time to do that, we

         15  can't do that in one year.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: What amount of

         17  time do you feel that you would need?

         18                 MR. GRANT: We feel five years would

         19  be a reasonable period where we can buy new buses

         20  every year and remove all our old buses from the

         21  fleet within five years.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: That's a long

         23  time. That's a very long time.

         24                 You know, I am sure that people are

         25  not aware of what they're inhaling when they are
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          2  riding these buses and also the people that are

          3  walking the street, and this becomes, you know, the

          4  fact that we know this, it becomes a health

          5  situation for New Yorkers, and, you know, I

          6  certainly understand your problem, but at the same

          7  time, there are many New Yorkers that are inhaling

          8  this, you know, unhealthy air.

          9                 Is there any way you can shorten the

         10  time?

         11                 MR. GRANT: Well, it has to do with

         12  financing new buses, and companies such as ourselves

         13  cannot purchase that many buses in one year. We

         14  would need to get financing and it's difficult for

         15  us because we are small. We are not publicly held,

         16  we are not owned by a very large company. So, we do

         17  want to do this and we are ready to commit to

         18  purchasing new buses at an aggressive schedule, but

         19  one year, the way the amendment is written, we would

         20  have to replace all our buses within about a year

         21  and that is very difficult, it is almost impossible.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: How much does

         23  a bus cost?

         24                 MR. GRANT: A little more than

         25  $300,000.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And you said

          3  you have 25.

          4                 MR. GRANT: A new bus is about

          5  300,000.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: No, but you

          7  said right now you have 25 buses that you operate

          8  right now?

          9                 MR. GRANT: That's right.

         10                 We need a fleet of at least 50 buses

         11  to operate our businesses. We just recently retired

         12  from service 45 buses, and we plan on replacing our

         13  fleet to be about 50 buses very shortly.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And where will

         15  you be getting these new buses?

         16                 MR. GRANT: They will be manufactured

         17  for us.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Outside of the

         19  United States?

         20                 MR. GRANT: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And what

         22  guarantee do we have that they will be

         23  environmentally sound?

         24                 MR. GRANT: Well, as I mentioned, the

         25  new buses that we will purchase, brand new buses
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          2  which we will replace the fleet with will meet the

          3  most current USEPA standards, 2001 and beyond. So,

          4  it is our intention to purchase the cleanest

          5  possible fuel or energy source that we can install

          6  in these double decker buses.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, between

          8  1990, when the federal law became, you know, took

          9  effect, and the Year 2000, how many new buses have

         10  you purchased in that ten-year period?

         11                 MR. GRANT: I am sorry, you mean new

         12  buses or used buses?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Any buses. How

         14  many have you gotten in that ten-year period from

         15  the time the law, the federal law took effect?

         16                 MR. GRANT: Which federal law are you

         17  referring to?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: The Clean Act,

         19  Clean Air Act.

         20                 MR. GRANT: We started our business in

         21  1992, and we had 65 buses when our fleet was the

         22  largest, at the largest point. Sixty-five operating

         23  buses.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: In 1992. So,

         25  in other words, it was after the Clean Air Act
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          2  became law?

          3                 MR. GRANT: We started our business in

          4  1992, and since then by 1998, we had about 65

          5  operating buses.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWTIZ: So, in that

          7  six-year period, you purchased all those buses?

          8                 MR. GRANT: That's right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I would like

         10  to ask my colleague, Council Member Fiala.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you,

         12  Madam Chair.

         13                 Mr. Grant, good morning. I have a few

         14  questions. I am a little unclear as to the numbers.

         15                 At a high point you had 65 buses.

         16  These buses were brought on line, your business was

         17  started in the aftermath of the Clean Air Act,

         18  that's an accurate statement, right? You started

         19  your business in 1992?

         20                 MR. GRANT: That's right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: I noted in your

         22  testimony that you said since early 1997 your

         23  organization has worked with DEP to help reduce

         24  emissions, and that you have replaced most of your

         25  engines with remanufactured green engines. Tell me

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  what exactly is a remanufactured green engine?

          3                 MR. GRANT: The remanufactured engines

          4  that we replaced are engines with -- are

          5  manufactured with 1990s technology to reduce

          6  emissions on older engines in older buses. We could

          7  not install brand new engines in our old buses. Our

          8  only alternative was to install remanufactured

          9  engines which could bring down emissions as low as

         10  possible.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Bring down

         12  emissions as low as possible but not meet EPA

         13  standards; is that a fair statement?

         14                 Absent of purchasing a new bus, with

         15  an engine that was capable of not emitting a level

         16  of toxicity, your organization did the next best

         17  thing because you wanted to keep the existing fleet?

         18                 MR. GRANT: No, we actually had no

         19  other choice. There wasn't another double-decker bus

         20  that we could purchase that would have a new engine.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: The engine was

         22  made to fit your need to have a double-decker bus.

         23  The replacement of these engines, these green

         24  engines. All right, that's fine. As I understand it

         25  now, the green engines, these remanufactured green
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          2  engines don't meet EPA requirements.

          3                 You also indicated that your

          4  organization is committed to using the highest grade

          5  fuel that you can purchase. I assume that that is

          6  standard practice now? On all of your buses, on a

          7  daily basis, or whenever you refuel you use the

          8  highest?

          9                 MR. GRANT: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: You said that

         11  you retrofitted one of your buses with compressed

         12  natural gas.

         13                 MR. GRANT: That's right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: What are the

         15  findings? That was in cooperation with DOT, what did

         16  you conclude?

         17                 MR. GRANT: The DOT was working with

         18  us and the program did not work out well for that

         19  system. So, we did not pursue it any further.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Well, look, I

         21  appreciate the impact regulations have on small

         22  businesses, but I also have to say this, the

         23  organization was started after the passage of the

         24  Clean Air Act, you took steps to insert engines that

         25  would make a difference, but a negligible
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          2  difference, and now you are asking for an additional

          3  five years.

          4                 I think the problem with this whole

          5  issue is that since its inception, we have done

          6  nothing to really enforce the Clean Air Act except

          7  -- I shouldn't say that.

          8                 We can't keep extending the deadline

          9  and providing accommodations, otherwise we make the

         10  purpose of the Clean Air Act moot. It's a moot point

         11  then. We have to at some point draw a line in the

         12  sand and say that now is the time. You have got 45

         13  buses that you say you just retired. You are

         14  operating with 25 buses; is that accurate?

         15                 MR. GRANT: That's right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: And over a

         17  five-year period you are saying you would replace

         18  those 25 buses?

         19                 How many buses could you

         20  realistically finance a year is what I am getting

         21  at, I guess.

         22                 MR. GRANT: Aggressively we can

         23  finance about ten buses a year, and we need 50 to

         24  operate our business effectively.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: All right.
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          2  Thanks very much.

          3                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

          5  Robinson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

          7  very much, Chairwoman Koslowitz. It so happens that

          8  Council Member Fiala has elicited a response to the

          9  question that I had in regards to how many buses

         10  would need to be operational to be profitable.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I have one

         13  more question for you.

         14                 How much does a used bus cost when

         15  you purchase a bus that is not a new bus at this

         16  point?

         17                 MR. GRANT: It depends on its quality.

         18  It could range between $40,000 and $100,000.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, thank

         20  you.

         21                 William Agathis. I think I pronounced

         22  your name wrong.

         23                 MR. AGATHIS:  Agathis. Close.

         24                 Good morning, Council Members, Mr.

         25  Perez. I am William Agathis, Northeast Regional
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          2  Counsel for Coach USA.

          3                 Coach USA is the parent company of

          4  Grayline, York Tours, one of the largest

          5  double-decker sightseeing tour operators in New York

          6  City.

          7                 In this regard, I am appearing to

          8  communicate our concerns regarding the proposed

          9  amendments to Section 20-372 of the New York City

         10  Administrative Code.

         11                 Initially I would like to offer that

         12  double-decker tours are a benefit and advantageous

         13  to New York City.

         14                 First, double-decker tours are

         15  attracted to tourists and a boost for tourism, a

         16  significant component of the City's economy.

         17                 Moreover, double-decker vehicles are

         18  high capacity and in this regard benefit to the City

         19  in terms of decreased traffic congestion; that is,

         20  in lieu of one double-decker vehicle typically two

         21  full-sized coaches would be required.

         22                 We are in fact permitted to providing

         23  newer equipment which results in the operation of

         24  cleaner, lower air emission engines. Our primary

         25  concern with respect to the Code Amendment pertains
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          2  to proposed Subdivision 10(e)(4), which provides

          3  that the Commissioner of the Department of Consumer

          4  Affairs may establish a mandatory retirement age for

          5  heavy duty diesel engines and sightseeing buses.

          6                 The proposed subdivision effectively

          7  paralyzes our double-decker vehicle procurement

          8  program.

          9                 The economic reality of the

         10  double-decker sightseeing bus industry in New York

         11  City requires a fleet split between used and new

         12  vehicles. However, the uncertainty created by the

         13  provision makes it impossible for an operator to

         14  purchase any used buses, as it would have no

         15  assurance, nor expectation, as to how long a period

         16  of time it would be able to utilize these vehicles.

         17                 A question also arises with respect

         18  to new vehicles, although not as serious. The

         19  subject provision provides for mandatory retirement

         20  age for the engine which may, and quite probably

         21  will, render the vehicle obsolete upon the engine

         22  reaching its mandatory retirement age.

         23                 That is, while the engine was in

         24  compliance at the time of delivery, upon reaching

         25  the mandatory retirement engine age, a replacement
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          2  engine, which is both compliant with the then

          3  current regulations and which may be retrofit into

          4  the bus may not exist.

          5                 Presently Coach USA has 30 new

          6  double-decker vehicles on order for early 2001

          7  delivery. However, we are also in the process of

          8  finalizing an order for a number of used later model

          9  vehicles.

         10                 Without used vehicles a New York City

         11  double-decker sightseeing operation would not be

         12  economically feasible.

         13                 Be assured that we are dedicated to

         14  providing the most modern fleet, which is

         15  economically feasible.

         16                 As a result of our anticipated

         17  vehicle procurement, it is expected that we will be

         18  retiring the majority of our older double-decker

         19  vehicles within the next 12 months.

         20                 However, as a consequence of the

         21  proposed subdivision amendment, the used vehicle

         22  procurement, as well as the new vehicle procurement,

         23  are now put in jeopardy as follows:

         24                 The used vehicles to be purchased are

         25  model year 1985 and 1986. However, by virtue of the
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          2  proposed code change, we are unable to proceed since

          3  it is conceivable and quite possible that the

          4  Commissioner may establish a mandatory retirement

          5  age, which does not allow the operator to full

          6  amortize the capital investment.

          7                 For purposes of illustration, the

          8  Commissioner enacted a mandatory retirement age of

          9  20 years, the engines would have to be retired in

         10  2005, 2006. If no compliant engine was available at

         11  that time, the vehicles would then become obsolete

         12  and a liability, since they do not operate for the

         13  number of years necessary to recoup the initial

         14  investment.

         15                 Accordingly with that, a

         16  predetermined period of time for engine retirement,

         17  which we would hope and anticipate to be reasonable

         18  under the circumstances, the proposed amendment

         19  would effectively prevent any operator from making

         20  any double-decker vehicle acquisitions.

         21                 To do so would be a shear gamble and

         22  accordingly an unsound business decision, since such

         23  an investment would have to be made with no

         24  certainty nor reasonable assumption as to the useful

         25  life capital investment.
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          2                 Moreover, in view of the vagueness

          3  and potential arbitrariness of the provision, the

          4  actual enactment of such a mandatory engine

          5  retirement age would be construed as arbitrary,

          6  capricious, and arguably an unlawful taking of

          7  private property, especially as applied to vehicles

          8  purchased prior to enactment of the established

          9  mandatory engine retirement age.

         10                 For the aforementioned reasons,

         11  enactment of subdivision 10D4 would be a great

         12  hindrance to future double-decker vehicle

         13  procurements, as well as possibly creating a legal

         14  quagmire for both New York City operators in the

         15  City, both of which would negatively impact the

         16  general interest of the City of New York, New York

         17  City tourists and the affected operators.

         18                 Accordingly, we urge that subdivision

         19  10(d)(4) be deleted from the proposed amendments to

         20  Section 20-372 of the New York City Administrative

         21  Code.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         23                 I would like to ask you basically the

         24  same questions that I asked Big Apple.

         25                 How many buses does your company own
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          2  and operate in the City?

          3                 MR. AGATHIS: Accompanying me this

          4  morning is Tom Lewis, who is the President of Gray

          5  Line Tours, and for specific questions like that I

          6  would like to defer to him, if possible.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, fine.

          8                 MR. LEWIS: Good morning.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Good morning.

         10                 MR. AGATHIS: We currently have 39

         11  vehicles.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thirty-nine.

         13  And how many buses do you currently operate which

         14  fail to meet the current EPA emission standards?

         15                 MR. LEWIS: Twenty-six.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Twenty-six out

         17  of the 39?

         18                 MR. LEWIS: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And what is

         20  the average age of these buses?

         21                 MR. LEWIS: Seventy-seven, '76 would

         22  be the year of manufacture, so over 25 years old.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Does your

         24  company plan on purchasing new buses in the future?

         25                 MR. LEWIS: Yes, we do. We currently
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          2  have an order in for 30 buses that will be here in

          3  the spring, and we are working on the development of

          4  used buses to coincide with the same time. It's our

          5  plan to replace our entire fleet next year.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: So, you are

          7  saying by next year you will meet the standards,

          8  when your licenses become, you know, renewable, you

          9  will have reached the standards and be able to renew

         10  them; that's your intention?

         11                 MR. LEWIS: Yes, Ma'am.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: All right.

         13  Thank you very much.

         14                 Council Member Fiala.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you.

         16                 In your testimony, you make a couple

         17  of observations. You said that the mandatory engine

         18  retirement age could be construed as arbitrary,

         19  capricious and arguably an unlawful taking of

         20  private property.

         21                 I am not an attorney, but my legal

         22  counsel uses those phrases all the time when we are

         23  preparing to fight, so it sounds to me as though,

         24  you know, you are preparing for a legal battle.

         25  Arbitrary and capricious manner is a forerunner to a
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          2  legal battle. I would simply ask this. The art of

          3  crafting legislation is two-fold: You try to define

          4  a problem and craft a solution that is as

          5  practicable as possible. And the second component is

          6  you try to work with those who have points of

          7  opposition. But in order to do the latter, you need

          8  to have some kind of an alternative.

          9                 Now, you are asking that section

         10  10(d)(4), which relates to setting a mandatory

         11  retirement age for engines, be deleted. Do you have

         12  anything that you would propose to put in its place?

         13                 What I am asking is this: We know, we

         14  define the problem, the problem is we have engines

         15  out there that simply do not meet EPA standards.

         16  They haven't met and they will not meet, unless we

         17  take actions like the ones that are proposed in this

         18  intro.

         19                 What do you propose we do in order to

         20  ensure that we can maintain a fleet of buses that

         21  are constantly keeping up-to-date equipment?

         22                 I mean, to remove a provision, that I

         23  would suggest, you know, at the heart of all of

         24  this, one of the assurances and not to put something

         25  in there as a safeguard, it is easy to be against
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          2  something but we have to be for something. Is there

          3  any recommendation you make in terms of how you

          4  would amend the bill?

          5                 MR. AGATHIS: Yes. As I discussed

          6  earlier on, if there was a fixed period of time, it

          7  would be something we would be able to address, and

          8  know what our expectations are.

          9                 Whereas, the way it is submitted in

         10  its current form, the Commissioner could enact a

         11  date AA retirement age in the future and we wouldn't

         12  have notice until that was actually enacted.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: So, your only

         14  exception with 10(d)(4) is you would like greater

         15  specificity, as removing the discretion of the

         16  Commissioner to determine, to set a date?

         17                 MR. AGATHIS: Of course if the

         18  retirement age was a reasonable period of time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Okay, thank you

         20  very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         22                 We have also been joined by Council

         23  Member Christine Quinn.

         24                 I would like to call Senator Tom

         25  Duane. It says Andrew Berman here, but I am happy to
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          2  see that we have the Senator. You can reminisce now.

          3                 SENATOR DUANE: The golden years of

          4  the Council when I was here.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: But you never

          6  sat there.

          7                 SENATOR DUANE: No.

          8                 Good morning, ladies and gentlemen,

          9  and former colleagues, all of whom are former

         10  colleagues, except for Christine Quinn, who got to

         11  be your colleague because I left.

         12                 Anyway, thank you. I appreciate the

         13  opportunity to testify before you this morning

         14  regarding Intro. 813 which would regulate the

         15  licensing of tour buses in relation to their

         16  conformance to federal emission standards.

         17                 As you are all probably aware, tour

         18  buses and their emissions have been a serious health

         19  and quality of life issue in the district I

         20  represent for many years now. And it has been an

         21  issue to which I have dedicated an enormous amount

         22  of time and energy.

         23                 Some tour bus operators in New York

         24  City, as I am sure you are all aware, have been

         25  extremely unresponsive to the concerns expressed by
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          2  me and others, regarding the harm their operations

          3  can have on New Yorkers, while others have been

          4  willing to listen and to be good corporate

          5  neighbors.

          6                 In either case, however, this

          7  industry continues to grow in New York City and

          8  these vehicles have an increasingly heavy impact,

          9  especially through their emissions on the thousands

         10  of New Yorkers who live near or along heavily

         11  traveled tour bus routes, and on the many thousands

         12  more who visit, work in or travel about our City

         13  every day.

         14                 I, therefore, welcome any effort on

         15  the part of the City to regulate this business to

         16  try to ensure that it does not have a harmful effect

         17  upon our City.

         18                 For far too long, however,

         19  unfortunately the City has been ignoring this need.

         20                 By the City's own measures, some of

         21  the most polluting and most prominent of the tour

         22  buses used on our streets have emitted as much as 25

         23  times the particulate matter or soot of an older,

         24  unmodified diesel New York City transit bus.

         25                 For instance, as of earlier this
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          2  year, New York Apple Tours operated 65 buses, which

          3  were measured to have emitted 17.7 grams of

          4  particulate matter per mile, for a total of 1,150

          5  grams per mile for the entire fleet.

          6                 At the same time, the entire New York

          7  City Transit Fleet of 3,315 diesel buses had a

          8  particulate emission rate of .66 grams per mile,

          9  less than 2,200 grams per mile for the entire fleet.

         10                 This means that New York Apple Tours

         11  buses alone increased by more than 50 percent the

         12  amount of dirty polluting particulate emissions

         13  emitted into our City's air, as compared to our

         14  City's entire fleet of New York City Transit buses.

         15                 Let me just repeat that.

         16                 New York Apple Tours increased by

         17  more than 50 percent the amount of dirty polluting

         18  particulate emissions emitted into our City's air,

         19  as compared to the City's entire fleet of New York

         20  City Transit buses.

         21                 And as you know, particulate

         22  emissions are extremely dangerous and unhealthy and

         23  have been linked to all sorts of respiratory

         24  illnesses, including asthma, lung cancer and

         25  emphysema.
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          2                 Residents of streets that these buses

          3  regularly go down complain, among other things,

          4  finding their windows covered with an increasingly

          5  thick layer of black soot which diesel particulate

          6  emissions cause.

          7                 Consumers and employees who ride

          8  these buses have complained about thick, smelly

          9  fumes, which cause their eyes to tear and their

         10  noses to burn.

         11                 Clearly, acting to require radically

         12  reduced emission standards is necessary on the part

         13  of the City.

         14                 Last year, while these buses were

         15  still on the road, I introduced legislation in the

         16  State Senate which would require that these buses

         17  undergo inspections by the State to check for, among

         18  other things, conformance with federal emission

         19  standards, which would have resulted in more or less

         20  the same emissions regulations as the bill before

         21  you today entails.

         22                 However, although I do have to

         23  acknowledge that the City's lobbyists did not get

         24  direction from the City to support my legislation,

         25  and if there is still a need I hope that they will
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          2  do so.

          3                 However, since that time, the

          4  settlement in the federal case against New York

          5  Apple Tours has required that New York Apple replace

          6  the engines and equipment on all of its buses to

          7  bring them into compliance with federal emission

          8  standards for at least the date of their

          9  importation, which in most cases is mid to early

         10  1990s.

         11                 Now, the testimony you had this

         12  morning from New York Apple Tours makes me question

         13  whether or not that process is underway. So, I am

         14  hoping the Committee will be able to clarify whether

         15  that is happening. You know the history of this,

         16  that the way the New York Apple Tours tried to --

         17  the way they said they were going to comply in the

         18  consent agreement with the feds was by putting even

         19  older engines in their buses, which was shocking and

         20  which caused the federal government to not accept --

         21  or to go back and not go forward with that consent

         22  decree.

         23                 Anyway, meanwhile, other tour bus

         24  companies have begun to replace their fleets with

         25  lower polluting clean fuel alternative buses, which
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          2  go well beyond federal requirements in reducing

          3  emissions standards.

          4                 Therefore, while I support making

          5  conformance with at least federal emission

          6  standards, the requirement of receiving in New York

          7  City Department of Consumer Affairs tour bus

          8  license, I believe that the City must do much, much

          9  more if it wishes to adequately regulate this

         10  industry, and ensure that it does not have a

         11  demonstrably detrimental impact upon New Yorkers.

         12                 City Council legislation, which I

         13  originally introduced over five years ago, which

         14  would prohibit tour buses from using residential

         15  side streets in parts of the City heavily trafficked

         16  by these vehicles is still not supported by the

         17  Administration.

         18                 Implementation of these regulations

         19  would go a long way toward solving the problem of

         20  the impact of these vehicles and their emissions on

         21  New Yorkers.

         22                 I would also strongly urge that the

         23  City reconsider its interpretation of its own truck

         24  and bus route regulations which restrict truck and

         25  buses which are not making a delivery on a block
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          2  from using residential side streets in certain

          3  heavily congested parts of town, which allows any

          4  your bus conducting a tour to use these restricted

          5  streets.

          6                 Just as an aside, the terrible

          7  tragedy of the person who was killed on the side

          8  street, the bus which was being driven was empty,

          9  and therefore, I would say if the City would -- I am

         10  sorry that the City didn't agree but should not have

         11  been on that street because the interpretation is if

         12  it is giving a tour, it's making a delivery on the

         13  street, but there was no one on the bus, so it

         14  shouldn't have been interpreted that way.

         15                 Anyway, if the City did interpret its

         16  own regulations this way, it would significantly

         17  increase the impact of these vehicles on New Yorkers

         18  and on the overburdened, overtrafficked, highly

         19  polluted residential streets.

         20                 If the City is not willing to do this

         21  on their own, I would urge Council Members to

         22  introduce legislation requiring them to do so, and

         23  that might be a different avenue from just

         24  restricting streets, but just to use the same truck

         25  and bus route regulations for tour buses.
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          2                 Finally, as we move toward replacing

          3  our New York City Transit bus fleet with lower

          4  polluting alternative to fuel vehicles, I believe we

          5  should require tour buses to in a reasonable period

          6  of time do the same thing as well.

          7                 There is no reason why buses licensed

          8  by the City of New York to bring tourists around our

          9  City to show them its treasures should not meet at

         10  least the same standards as we have for emissions

         11  for our own mass transit vehicles.

         12                 I therefore strongly urge the City to

         13  move forward comprehensively on all these measures,

         14  including the emission standards without a five-year

         15  delay. I just don't see the reason for that, and

         16  five years of, you know, this exponentially greater

         17  amount of pollution from the buses is totally

         18  unacceptable. I think it is a good means to start to

         19  adequate regulate this growing industry and to

         20  mediate its impact on the health and quality of life

         21  of all New Yorkers and visitors to our City.

         22                 It is just a shame that we would

         23  allow an industry which is supposed to be showing

         24  off our City to at the same time be really hurting

         25  the health and the safety of residents of the City
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          2  which it is meant to showcase. And I want to thank

          3  you for having the hearing on this legislation, and

          4  I am very pleased that the Council is taking an

          5  interest in regulating this burgeoning industry,

          6  which has not been a happier, unbumpy ride, frankly.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          9                 Thank you very much. It is good to

         10  see you.

         11                 SENATOR DUANE: Good to see you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: At this time I

         13  would like to call the Commissioner. Commissioner

         14  Hoffman.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: Good morning,

         16  Chairwoman Koslowitz, and members of the Consumer

         17  Affairs Committee.

         18                 My name is Jane Hoffman and I am the

         19  Commissioner of the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         20  Thank you for this opportunity to testify and to

         21  express Mayor Giuliani's strong support for Intro.

         22  813, a bill requiring that the engines of

         23  sightseeing buses comply with specified emission

         24  standards as a condition of licensing.

         25                 I would also like to convey the
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          2  Mayor's appreciation that you have given this bill

          3  your prompt consideration. I am also pleased to

          4  appear before you to voice my support for a piece of

          5  legislation that improves the quality of life in our

          6  City.

          7                 Intro. 813 addresses what has become

          8  a significant quality of life issue, especially to

          9  those New Yorkers who reside along the routes that

         10  vintage sightseeing buses have been traveling.

         11                 These routes travel along many

         12  residential side streets, as well as major

         13  thoroughfares.

         14                 A new kind of sightseeing bus in

         15  service was introduced in New York City in 1994. I

         16  am aware that previously someone said they were

         17  incorporated in '92, but our records indicate '94.

         18  Since then, three companies of imported vintage

         19  sightseeing buses, many with the tops cut off, for

         20  tours around the City.

         21                 These buses turned out to be a

         22  popular vehicle for touring the City's skyscraper

         23  lined streets.

         24                 This kind of sightseeing service

         25  offered for one price hop-on hop-off fare along
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          2  designated routes to let tourists take in the City's

          3  major attractions.

          4                 Instead of locking tourists into a

          5  predetermined tour, this service gave them the

          6  flexibility to join or interrupt the tour to explore

          7  sites at their leisure and rejoin it later.

          8                 The service was an immediate hit

          9  among tourists who have been visiting the City in

         10  record numbers.

         11                 Over 36 million visited last year, of

         12  whom 6.6 million were international visitors. These

         13  visitors had a significant economic impact on the

         14  City, spending over $15 billion and generating about

         15  $860 million in tax revenue. That is according to

         16  data supplied by NYC and Company, the City's tourist

         17  and information bureau.

         18                 The idea of using these vintage buses

         19  to attract tourists and their disposable incomes

         20  spread quickly. At one point the vintage sightseeing

         21  bus fleet ballooned over three times its original

         22  size and almost one-third of the 307 vehicles

         23  licensed to operate a sightseeing bus had vintage

         24  engines.

         25                 Because some of these vintage buses
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          2  were manufactured abroad, they were not equipped

          3  with engines that were required to meet US

          4  Environmental Protection agency diesel emissions

          5  standards. These buses, therefore, emit much higher

          6  amounts of pollutants than is permitted under

          7  current EPA regulations that apply to most buses.

          8                 Moreover, the amount of pollution

          9  that these engines produce increases with the wear

         10  over the life of the engine.

         11                 According to the results of tests on

         12  such engines conducted in January 2000 by West

         13  Virginia University, the engines are not good news

         14  for New Yorkers.

         15                 The New York City Department of

         16  Transportation commissioned these tests. The results

         17  indicated that under similar tests conditions, one

         18  of the vintage bus engines generates particulate

         19  exhaust emissions roughly 25 times greater than the

         20  particulate emissions produced by new diesel bus

         21  engines.

         22                 Thus, one vintage sightseeing bus

         23  generates approximately the same emissions that

         24  would approximately 25 new MTA diesel buses.

         25                 These tests also found that under the
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          2  same conditions, exhaust emissions from engines that

          3  comply with current EPA standards were significantly

          4  lower than several key pollutants by the following

          5  approximate amounts: Less 88 percent in

          6  hydrocarbons, less 47 percent in nitrogen oxide,

          7  less 16 percent carbon monoxide, and less 95 percent

          8  in particulate matter.

          9                 The legislation before you is

         10  designed to achieve such better results for the

         11  City's vintage sightseeing bus fleet. It would do so

         12  by amending subchapter 21 of Title 20 of the

         13  Administrative Code of the City of New York to

         14  establish the following requirements governing the

         15  license or licensed renewal of sightseeing buses.

         16                 For new licenses, any vehicle that

         17  had not been previously licensed would need to

         18  comply with the following standard.

         19                 If a vehicle's engine was not covered

         20  by a certificate of conformity issued by the US EPA

         21  when it was originally manufactured, it could not be

         22  issued a license unless the vehicle was equipped

         23  with an engine that meets EPA standards as of the

         24  date a license is applied for.

         25                 For license renewals, any vehicle
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          2  that had been licensed before this law became

          3  effective, could have its license renewed only if it

          4  met one of the following standards.

          5                 First, if a vehicle's engine was not

          6  covered by a certificate of conformity issued by the

          7  EPA when it was originally manufactured, and it had

          8  been granted a license, the license cannot be

          9  renewed unless it is equipped with an engine that

         10  conforms to the standard for diesel engines for the

         11  model year that applies on the date of the renewal

         12  license application for such vehicle. How is that

         13  for a run-on sentence?

         14                 Second, if the vehicle's engine was

         15  not covered by a certificate of conformity issued by

         16  the EPA -- this one is even better -- when it was

         17  originally manufactured, and if it was granted in

         18  the interim between the time this legislation is

         19  introduced and the time it is enacted into law, the

         20  license cannot be renewed unless it is equipped with

         21  an engine that conforms to the standard for diesel

         22  engines for the model year that applies on the date

         23  of the renewal license application for such vehicle.

         24                 The engine upgrades applicable to

         25  sightseeing buses licensed under current law would
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          2  have to be implemented by the next renewal date for

          3  such licenses. That would be by March 31, 2002,

          4  which is the expiration date of current sightseeing

          5  bus licenses.

          6                 For enforcement and rule-making the

          7  bill includes the following provisions.

          8                 First, legislation allows for the

          9  adoption of rules by the Commissioner of the

         10  Department of Consumer Affairs establishing a

         11  mandatory retirement age for heavy duty diesel

         12  engines in sightseeing buses and to specify

         13  inspection procedures to ensure that buses are

         14  equipped with engines that comply with the

         15  appropriate EPA regulations.

         16                 This provision confers on the

         17  Commissioner the flexibility to delegate that

         18  responsibility to the agency that could best

         19  accomplish these inspections without being unduly

         20  burdened by the task.

         21                 The bill also specifies various

         22  grounds for suspending licenses when buses are not

         23  in compliance with the law.

         24                 Finally, the bill replaces the

         25  outdated reference in the law to the Public Service
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          2  Commission with the reference to the State

          3  Department of Transportation as the state agency

          4  responsible for certifying the safety of sightseeing

          5  buses.

          6                 There are many benefits to be gained

          7  with the passage of this proposed law.

          8                 First, it would improve the quality

          9  of air in the City's neighborhoods.

         10                 Second, this proposed law would

         11  enhance the quality of life of the residents of

         12  neighborhoods that are on sightseeing bus routes,

         13  without, in our view, unduly burdening the industry.

         14                 Third, removing these engines from

         15  buses operating on City streets will reduce the

         16  amount of soot that collects on the facades of

         17  buildings, enters buildings through open windows,

         18  and is deposited on air conditioner filters.

         19  Removing these pollutants from the air would likely

         20  reduce the frequency of building cleaning and

         21  maintenance.

         22                 Fourth, the legislation would

         23  reinforce the current industry trend to replace,

         24  older imported diesel engines with newer ones that

         25  comply with EPA standards.
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          2                 Fifth, this proposed law would ensure

          3  that this upgrading of outdated and outmoded diesel

          4  engines is brought to a certain and quick conclusion

          5  and that sightseeing buses with non-compliant

          6  engines are permanently barred from city streets.

          7                 On behalf of the Giuliani

          8  Administration, I am pleased to join with you, Madam

          9  Chairwoman, and your fellow sponsors, to support and

         10  encourage the prompt enactment of Intro. 813.

         11                 Thank you again for this opportunity

         12  to appear before you today. I would be pleased to

         13  answer any of your questions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you. I

         15  would like to ask a few questions.

         16                 Intro. 813 allows DCA to transfer the

         17  responsibility of inspecting tour buses to the

         18  Department of Environmental Protection.

         19                 Have you had discussions with DEP

         20  about how the transfer of these inspections is going

         21  to happen?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: We have had

         23  discussions and we think we can delegate these

         24  inspections to various agencies and the bill would

         25  include some rule-making. And I can pass this
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          2  question on to DEP, and your name is?

          3                 MS. KELPIN: Gerry Kelpin.

          4                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: Gerry Kelpin.

          5  Would you like to answer that specifically?

          6                 MS. KELPIN: Good morning. My name is

          7  Geraldine Kelpin, I am with New York City Department

          8  of Environmental Protection.

          9                 The way that the bill is envisioned,

         10  there are a number of options that the Commissioner

         11  has said about enforcement. The role that DEP might

         12  play in this would be to continue enforcement under

         13  the air code, which is more visible emissions

         14  standard. The inspection of the engine in terms of

         15  its conformity, we think probably lies more

         16  effectively with the State Department of

         17  Transportation who is doing a safety inspection on

         18  these buses.

         19                 The inspection to determine

         20  conformity is to ensure that the engine has the

         21  proper plate that identifies the engine as that make

         22  and model and that it hasn't been tampered with.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, because

         24  sometimes when you hand things over to too many

         25  agencies nothing gets done.
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          2                 MS. KELPIN: That could happen.

          3                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: We wouldn't

          4  accept that in this case.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And are they

          6  trained? Will they be trained to administer these

          7  inspections?

          8                 MS. KELPIN: DEP would be trained, and

          9  state is already trained, they are already doing

         10  this.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And this is

         12  the question, how many inspectors would be assigned

         13  to this?

         14                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: I would have to

         15  pass that on to DEP.

         16                 Do you have an assignment of

         17  inspectors who would be doing this?

         18                 MS. KELPIN: In terms of the visible

         19  emissions that we currently enforce, it would be the

         20  same staff that we have on the street now.

         21                 Currently we have 40 inspectors.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And we are

         23  giving them additional work?

         24                 MS. KELPIN: In terms of what we would

         25  be enforcing, I don't think so. It's the same part
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          2  of the air code.

          3                 We really don't envision the engine,

          4  determining that the engine has the proper plates,

          5  would be done at the safety inspection.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay. And no

          7  DCA inspectors will be used?

          8                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: DCA inspectors

          9  would be used as they currently are to check that

         10  there would be conformity and that the plates

         11  weren't being switched and that buses were being

         12  stopped where they were supposed to stop. But it

         13  would be the current enforcement mechanism with

         14  additional help from state and additional levels of

         15  checks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Because when I

         17  hear the words inspectors, as you know, I panic.

         18  Because there is never enough inspectors for so many

         19  different things that we have out there. And I don't

         20  want to pass the law if it is not going to be

         21  enforced. And especially a law like this, that, you

         22  know, threatens people's health. I would want to

         23  make sure that this is really followed through.

         24                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: I fully

         25  understand your point.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Fiala.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.

          6                 Commissioner, welcome. Thank you for

          7  your support of this bill. I commend the chair for

          8  her leadership. I am a co-sponsor of the measure and

          9  just one question and then I am going to make an

         10  observation.

         11                 In our Council's report it was noted

         12  that the number of sightseeing buses that operate in

         13  this City with non-certified engines have tripled

         14  over the last six years from 32 to 100; is that

         15  roughly the figures?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: Well, I

         17  understand from the previous testimony that occurred

         18  this morning, our numbers, and there is a recent

         19  retirement of New York Apple Tours, we are now at

         20  45, because New York Apple Tours recently retired 49

         21  buses.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Okay. All

         23  right.

         24                 But it does seem that while levels of

         25  government were moving in one direction, there was a
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          2  segment of the industry moving in another direction.

          3  While we were trying to bring down emission, there

          4  were organizations that were actually contributing a

          5  disproportionate level of these toxic emissions.

          6                 I put this into the context of

          7  health. I mean, I suffer from asthma. I have stood

          8  prior -- you know, when I worked in Manhattan, I

          9  stood on the street every night and, you know,

         10  cursed when New York City Transit buses would come

         11  by and tour buses and I would have to breathe that

         12  God awful junk that came out of the pipes of those

         13  buses.

         14                 Now, I lost my dad to lung cancer, we

         15  have people out there with emphysema, there is a

         16  rising increase, we have got kids all over the City,

         17  rising increases of asthma. There are things that we

         18  can't do, I mean we take steps to try to mitigate

         19  the problem, and there are things that we can't do.

         20  We can't force a person not to smoke, but I think as

         21  a society, we can try to limit the level of toxicity

         22  in the air. We do it in restaurants, we tried to do

         23  it in office buildings, this seems to me to be a

         24  reasonable standard to establish.

         25                 The fact of the matter is, when you
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          2  consider the impact that a relatively small number

          3  of sightseeing buses have, versus the impact of our

          4  entire fleet of New York City Transit Buses, per

          5  mile, it's a very stark comparison. I mean, the

          6  Senator alluded to it and I jotted it down. 65

          7  buses, from one tour company, were measured to have

          8  omitted roughly 1,150 grams of particulate per mile.

          9  Sixty-five buses. Our entire fleet of 3,515 New York

         10  City Transit buses were measured to have dispatched

         11  a particulate emission rate of 2,200 grams per mile.

         12  It doesn't get much darker than that. That there are

         13  serious violators out there that are doing more

         14  damage than our own big system, and there are many

         15  of us who believe that we need to do more to bring

         16  down the emission rate of New York City Transit

         17  buses, but if we don't take a serious step toward

         18  trying to go after the serious violators, you know,

         19  who contribute a disproportionate share of these

         20  types of emissions, then what is the point of moving

         21  forward?

         22                 I wanted to make that point because I

         23  think the time, as I said earlier, has come to draw

         24  the line in the sand. We can't keep talking about

         25  clean air and then pushing out the date for
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          2  implementing clean air standards. We have given a

          3  lot of time, we have given a decade to try and move

          4  this project forward, let's at least close this

          5  century out with trying to develop standards that

          6  will try to improve the health of our kids and

          7  people like me who have asthma and those who are out

          8  there suffering from emphysema.

          9                 Madam Chair, I applaud you and I urge

         10  the Committee to vote the bill out as soon as

         11  possible.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you. We

         13  have been joined by Council Member Freed and Council

         14  Member Watkins.

         15                 Council Member Quinn.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         17                 First I just want to thank

         18  Chairperson Koslowitz, and the Mayor, if you can

         19  convey that, for introducing and supporting this

         20  legislation.

         21                 I represent much of the same area

         22  that Senator Duane does, so my district has

         23  certainly been victimized by these renegade

         24  so-to-speak tour buses, so this will certainly be

         25  helpful.
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          2                 I also want to thank you and your

          3  agency for all of the work your particularly legal

          4  team, although regrettably cannot remember the

          5  lawyer's name at the moment, but everyone on your

          6  legal team has been working long and hard on the New

          7  York Apple case, probably longer and harder than any

          8  of us would have thought. So, if you could let them

          9  know how grateful we are.

         10                 I don't know if you were here before

         11  Senator Duane, when the people from the industry

         12  were speaking about the question of phase-in, and

         13  what would be an appropriate phase-in time and how

         14  something could be proposed that might meet

         15  everyone's needs; do you have any thoughts on that?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: Being that I

         17  didn't hear the testimony it is hard for me to

         18  comment on that. I apologize.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What do you

         20  think in the agency's mind is going to be the

         21  appropriate retirement age for the engines of the

         22  tour buses? How long would you think the industry

         23  should be given to kind of make those changes?

         24                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: Well, we are

         25  currently proposing that it will be a two-year
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          2  period.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Two years,

          4  okay.

          5                 And what would the age be?

          6                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: It would be

          7  within rule-making. It hasn't been determined right

          8  now. Specific criteria would be developed through

          9  the rule-making procedure.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay. So, that

         11  is something that after the law is passed we all

         12  continue to dialogue about.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: Right. And we

         14  consider relevant factors when making those rules.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         16                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: It is actually

         17  18 months because the requirement would come into

         18  effect March 31, which would actually be 18 months,

         19  not two years.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay, thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         23                 Council Member Freed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you.

         25                 And I also want to extend my
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          2  congratulations and thanks to the Administration, to

          3  Commissioner Hoffman and to Chairperson Koslowitz.

          4                 As many people know, this is an area

          5  that I have been pushing for some kind of relief for

          6  a number of years, on as a number of people have

          7  mentioned, particularly areas that are heavily

          8  touristed have been overrun by these buses, and in

          9  an area like Lower Manhattan where we already have

         10  incredibly high asthma rate, we already have

         11  incredible high respiratory problems, having these

         12  tour buses coming by just spewing this really toxic

         13  black dirt into our air and into our lungs, you

         14  know, has basically made all of those situations

         15  worse, and at a time when basically we get nothing

         16  positive from it in the neighborhoods that they

         17  overrun. I mean, I understand the tour buses make a

         18  profit on it, but quite frankly, the residents that

         19  have to put up with this, along with the other

         20  attendant problems, including the megaphones

         21  blasting and people looking into second floor

         22  windows and taking pictures of people as they eat or

         23  go about their lives, and everyone feels like they

         24  are part of a three ring circus. As I said, you

         25  know, if you are watching a circus, they throw
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          2  peanuts to the monkeys, we don't even get peanuts,

          3  all we get is bad air.

          4                 So, this is I think way past due. It

          5  was sort of a fluke that it happened in the first

          6  place, I always thought, and I congratulate you in

          7  finding a rather clever way of solving the problem.

          8  I would only urge you that I know there is a

          9  two-year phase-in period that we are talking about

         10  for your bill and I would urge you to stay by that

         11  two-year phase-in. For those of us it means another

         12  two years of breathing miserable air and, I mean, if

         13  you look at the number of tour buses and the triple

         14  decker buses that queue up, I mean literally queue

         15  up, one after another after another, in areas like

         16  SoHo and the Village, and even in Harlem and other

         17  areas that are heavily, as I said, tourist areas, we

         18  really desperately need relief and we need it as

         19  soon as possible.

         20                 So, again, I hope we pass this

         21  immediately without any changes, and I would

         22  certainly urge all of my colleagues to go along with

         23  it.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.
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          2  Thank you very much.

          3                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: I want to

          4  specifically thank Chairwoman Koslowitz for her

          5  prompt attention to this. We really appreciate that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Well, it's an

          7  important issue. It means people's lives.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HOFFMAN: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         10                 I would like to call on Craig Heard.

         11                 MR. HEARD: Good morning, Madam

         12  Commissioner, and Commissioners, and members of the

         13  Committee on Consumer Affairs, I wish to thank you

         14  for notifying me of this hearing today and allowing

         15  me to testify regarding this legislation.

         16                 My name is Craig Heard, president of

         17  New York Double-Decker Bus Tours. In November 1999,

         18  Heard Communications, an employee-owned transit

         19  advertising company, purchased New York

         20  Double-Decker Bus Tours. At that time there were 15

         21  poorly maintained London-style double-decker buses

         22  in the fleet. After the acquisition was completed,

         23  three buses were retired immediately due to

         24  disrepair, and we then invested over $500,000 to

         25  repair and upgrade and rebuild some of the remaining
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          2  buses in preparation for the 2000 tour season.

          3                 Even after all that engine work the

          4  mechanics had scheduled was performed, I could see

          5  maintaining the emissions on these older buses

          6  within current bus emissions guidelines would be

          7  difficult at best.

          8                 In February 2000, I therefore began

          9  searching for and found ten refurbished 1990 Neoplan

         10  double-decker buses, a picture which is included in

         11  the hand-out that I gave.

         12                 These were going to be necessary for

         13  us to continue serving the growing tourist business

         14  in New York City with comfortable, safe and more

         15  environmentally friendly sightseeing buses. We have

         16  already received five of those new buses, which

         17  passed all emissions control testing.

         18                 Upon delivery of the other Neoplan's

         19  contracted for, we will retire an additional three

         20  older London buses from our fleet.

         21                 This gives you some history of the

         22  actions New York double decker bus tours has taken

         23  recently to clean up the emissions issue your

         24  committee is addressing.

         25                 Regarding the introduction of the
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          2  Administrative Code amendment No. 813, we would like

          3  to congratulate the sponsors of this legislation and

          4  applaud the sensitivity shown by our elected

          5  officials regarding unacceptable bus emissions

          6  affecting the air, quality and health of New Yorkers

          7  and our tourists.

          8                 Gateway has already taken action to

          9  pull buses with poor emissions off the street and

         10  replace them with new state-of-the-art new

         11  double-decker buses made in the USA.

         12                 The only question we have of the

         13  legislation is, why is a mandatory retirement age

         14  specified for engines, as detailed in paragraph d,

         15  item (4)? If any engine can comply with the emission

         16  standards, then why should they have to be retired

         17  only because of age?

         18                 That would penalize companies who

         19  maintain their vehicles well, and that the older

         20  engines still pass the current emissions. We think

         21  this provision should be removed, that's the only

         22  change we have.

         23                 Overall, we welcome this legislation,

         24  and look forward to quick implementation in the

         25  interest of a cleaner and healthier New York City.
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          2                 The leadership in New York City is

          3  already shown to New Yorkers and the entire country

          4  that clean air and environmental concerns are

          5  important.

          6                 We, a sightseeing bus operator,

          7  employee-owned and family-owned, want cleaner air

          8  also, and we believe this legislation can only

          9  enhance the image of New York City as the premiere

         10  tour city of the world.

         11                 Thank you for your time and the

         12  serious steps you have taken to address this issue.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: How do you

         14  feel about the phasing in of this, and what period

         15  of time?

         16                 MR. HEARD: Well, we will be ready

         17  next year. We are already taking some of our London

         18  buses and having them comply with the emissions now.

         19  Now, it is not the law to do that, but we even

         20  pulled one off the street last week, if it wasn't

         21  even getting close to the emissions under the

         22  current law, 1990.

         23                 Now, I am not going to say that is

         24  not going to hurt us. That's real, it is going to

         25  hurt a tour bus company, we are not going to have
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          2  the same amount of buses on next year, but, frankly,

          3  as an employee-owned company and a family company, I

          4  think we have got to put the people first this time

          5  and let our new buses as they come in start to build

          6  our fleet back up with newer standard, good

          7  emissions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And you were

          9  talking about older buses. When you say older buses,

         10  how old are the buses?

         11                 MR. HEARD: When we purchased New York

         12  Double-Decker they were mostly 25 years and older.

         13  The older London style.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: What's the

         15  life, usual life expectancy of a bus?

         16                 MR. HEARD: Well, if you talk to the

         17  London people I think they will say 100 years, but

         18  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I have been on

         20  the London buses, and let me tell you something, you

         21  have to worry about riding on those buses.

         22                 MR. HEARD: That's why we pulled some

         23  off the street, just for safety alone.

         24                 I don't think it is a matter of how

         25  long they will last. I think more our issue and the
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          2  issue here in front of us today is how long do we

          3  tolerate the heavy emissions of the older buses. My

          4  only objection is if the engine is meeting current

          5  criteria, even if it is 50 years old, if it is

          6  meeting the emissions, why change it, that's just

          7  additional expense. I was trying to address

          8  Commissioner Fiala's question before, like what is

          9  our alternative - make it comply. If it is 50 years

         10  old but it is still complying, it is the older

         11  gentleman or the lady, that doesn't mean you retire

         12  them. Let them continue, as long as they comply.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: What about

         14  mileage on the buses?

         15                 MR. HEARD: Immaterial. I think some

         16  of your New York City buses have probably over a

         17  million miles. Our buses only circle the same area,

         18  virtually 20 times a day. I think the inspectors do

         19  a good job. We have had buses rejected. We had a bus

         20  with a cracked frame, we didn't see it. Our

         21  mechanics didn't see it. They caught it, and we

         22  pulled the bus and it is now retired. So, I think

         23  they do a good job in keeping the buses as safe as

         24  possible under the current inspection procedures.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: The buses that
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          2  you purchase from outside of the United States, are

          3  they -- let's say England, you purchase them from,

          4  you know, England?

          5                 MR. HEARD: The Neoplan buses in the

          6  kit I passed out are the new -- they are 1990 buses,

          7  they were purchased in the United States.

          8                 The manufacturer is Neoplan, which is

          9  a German company, but these buses were manufactured

         10  in the United States. They have a facility here

         11  where they build them.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay.

         13                 MR. HEARD: And those are

         14  double-decker buses also.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: So, you have

         16  never purchased any buses from outside of the United

         17  States? Not talking about this, previously.

         18                 MR. HEARD: No, previous top buying

         19  New York Double-Decker Bus Tours, we had never

         20  purchased any buses outside.

         21                 Now, we are in the process of

         22  importing another London bus, with new rebuilt green

         23  engines, as Mr. Grant mentioned, but our intention

         24  isn't to keep it in New York City. We are importing

         25  it here but it will be going to another market.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Because why I

          3  am asking the question, I wonder, since the buses in

          4  London, and I am using that as an example, are in

          5  very poor condition, I mean I road on the bus and it

          6  was like a swing, you know, it was going back and

          7  forth, and it wasn't windy; are those the buses?

          8  Like after they are finished with those buses, are

          9  those the buses that we purchase?

         10                 MR. HEARD: I can't answer what the

         11  others have done, but I know the one we purchased

         12  was stripped and rebuilt completely with new engines

         13  put in them, green engines, and new transmissions

         14  put in and completely refurbished and refinished on

         15  the inside. It is actually a pretty good looking

         16  bus.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay. Because

         18  I know even when you ride on those buses you can't

         19  even sit on the bottom, including even the Big

         20  Apple, which I have taken, it's very hard to sit on

         21  the bottom, you have to go on the top, not just for

         22  sightseeing but for breathing, because of the odors

         23  that come from the engine.

         24                 MR. HEARD: Well, to comment on that,

         25  we had the emissions control department came in and
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          2  ran tests inside our buses to see if there was

          3  excessive emissions emitting on the passengers and

          4  we passed with flying colors, and those were the

          5  London buses. They even taped some machines to the

          6  driver to see if they were getting exposed to

          7  emissions that were unacceptable and the bus passed

          8  also.

          9                 I can't say that is on all of the

         10  buses, but they did check two or three of our buses

         11  and ran a very lengthy inspection. Came back three

         12  times and they passed.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         14  Thank you very much.

         15                 I would like to at this time

         16  recognize Bryant High School, that is sitting

         17  upstairs, from Council Member Walter McCaffrey's

         18  district, and my name is Karen Koslowitz and I am

         19  the Chair of the Consumer Affairs Committee, and I

         20  come from Queens also, and I want to welcome you to

         21  our chambers today. We are having a hearing on tour

         22  buses and how environmentally safe are they for our

         23  City at the present time. Welcome to City Hall.

         24                 I would like to call on Council

         25  Member Freed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you,

          3  Madam Chair.

          4                 I did want to ask you a couple of

          5  questions. I am glad to see that you are already

          6  working to meet the emission standards.

          7                 Are all of your buses diesel buses?

          8                 MR. HEARD: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Have you looked

         10  into either the possibility of alternative fuels? Or

         11  one of the things that is being done now in the

         12  State of New York and the City is that they are

         13  using these, I guess low sulfur fuels, and I am

         14  wondering if you have looked into that at all?

         15                 MR. HEARD: I am not aware that we

         16  have, but I certainly will explore it. My director

         17  is here with me today, so I will certainly have him

         18  explore it. But the new Neoplan buses in the kit

         19  there have all rebuilt engines. And even though they

         20  are diesel, I know they passed the current

         21  inspection.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Right. Well, I

         23  am going a little bit beyond it. I was just curious

         24  to see how difficult it would be. Because, again, I

         25  believe what they are using now are some kind
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          2  retrofitted kits on a lot of the New York City buses

          3  to reduce the sulfur so that you don't have the

          4  small particulate matter problem.

          5                 MR. HEARD: Good. I would love to get

          6  information on that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay. All

          8  right, thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         10                 We have also been joined by Council

         11  Member Sabini, and I also had seen Council Member

         12  Spigner.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 I would like to call on Richard

         15  Kassel.

         16                 MR. KASSEL: Thank you, Madam

         17  Chairwoman, and members of the Council. My name is

         18  Richard Kassel, I am a senior attorney with the

         19  Natural Resources Defense Council, a national

         20  non-profit environmental advocacy organization,

         21  based here in New York City. We have over 450,000

         22  members nationwide, but more than 40,000 of them are

         23  New Yorkers.

         24                 At NRDC, I coordinate NRDC's Dump

         25  Dirty Diesels Campaign. We have been working for
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          2  nearly a decade to clean up this City's transit

          3  buses, tour buses, garbage trucks and other trucks

          4  that are operating in New York and throughout the

          5  nation.

          6                 First, I want to applaud the Council,

          7  because you have been a real leader in the effort to

          8  clean the MTA bus fleets, you have been a real

          9  leader in the effort to clean up other public

         10  vehicles, including fleet vehicles, cars, and

         11  garbage trucks and other vehicles. Your bill, Local

         12  Law 6, 1991, was the first law in the nation to

         13  begin the process of converting public fleets from

         14  conventional fuels to alternative fuels. So we

         15  applaud you for those efforts and it is in light of

         16  that longstanding leadership that we testify in

         17  support of your action, proposed action today. These

         18  changes will be an important, and enforceable step

         19  towards cleaning up one of the City's last remaining

         20  and worst polluters, a fleet of truly dirty diesels.

         21                 The reason for our longstanding

         22  concerns about diesel emissions are clear. Diesel

         23  buses emit huge quantities of particulate soot that

         24  triggers asthma attacks, nitrogen oxides that are a

         25  key part of our summertime smog problem and toxic
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          2  emissions that are linked with cancer and other very

          3  serious illnesses.

          4                 More than 50 studies show links

          5  between particular matter generally and a wide range

          6  of health impacts. I mentioned increased asthma

          7  attacks, I would also like to mention endocrine

          8  disruption, numerous cardiopulmonary ailments,

          9  cancer and premature death.

         10                 I mentioned that nitrogen oxides are

         11  part of our summertime smog problem, they are also

         12  part of our acid rain problem, they also add

         13  nutrient pollution to the City's reservoir system.

         14                 At NRDC we are very concerned about

         15  the huge explosion announcement in our communities

         16  and the strong links that are being shown more and

         17  more between diesel particulate matter and asthma

         18  attacks, emergencies, and other events.

         19                 A recent study estimated that asthma

         20  cases will double by 20/20, hitting one out of every

         21  five American families and giving data we have seen

         22  in New York to date, you can expect that the numbers

         23  will be higher in the City. And nobody knows what

         24  causes asthma, but we do know that there are

         25  triggers to asthma attacks and emergencies and
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          2  diesel particulates is a key to outdoor trigger.

          3                 We are also especially concerned with

          4  the growing links between diesel pollution and

          5  cancer. Just in this month alone we have seen yet

          6  another agency decide that diesel particulates cause

          7  cancer.

          8                 The Clean Air Scientific Advisory

          9  Committee advised EPA just in this month that it was

         10  time for EPA to finish a ten-year long process that

         11  will result in the designation of a diesel

         12  particulate as a likely carcinogen.

         13                 According to a National Association

         14  of state and local air pollution officials, our

         15  current levels of diesel pollution result in over

         16  125,000 life-time cancers across the nation.

         17                 We have looked at the data and

         18  applied it to New York City, and we have calculated

         19  that 9,000 out of every 1 million New Yorkers will

         20  contract cancer over their lifetimes as a result of

         21  current levels of diesel pollution.

         22                 Another way to put it is that is

         23  9,000 times the level that EPA deems safe and

         24  acceptable from a cancer perspective.

         25                 The reason it is important to note
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          2  that is that we have heard from many of the

          3  testifiers today talk about their buses in

          4  connection to EPA standards, that they will take

          5  certain steps to meet an EPA standard this year or

          6  next year and so on. But I want to underscore the

          7  fact that EPA's standard for retrofitting older

          8  buses whether we are talking about a '91 bus, a '92

          9  bus, and so on, does not mean that that bus is the

         10  cleanest possible bus that will provide the most

         11  protective level of protection for New Yorkers or

         12  even that it is going to help bring those numbers

         13  down.

         14                 There are cleaner buses being built

         15  today and we want to encourage you to take your

         16  action today, but also to begin the next step

         17  towards a phase-out of existing buses and move to

         18  natural gas and other advanced technologies, like

         19  the City's Department of Transportation buys for its

         20  buses, like the MTA will be buying.

         21                 I want to turn to the New York City

         22  issue for a moment, because I have laid out a bit of

         23  the general information about the health impacts of

         24  diesel generally, but I want to underscore, New

         25  Yorkers breathe more diesel soot than any other
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          2  Americans. In fact, the highest recorded outdoor

          3  levels of diesel particulate can be found on Madison

          4  Avenue, and comparable levels have been measured in

          5  other neighborhoods, including on Canal Street, in

          6  the Garment District and West Harlem and others. We

          7  don't meet EPA's health standard for particulates,

          8  the existing standard in Manhattan, when EPA's new

          9  and upcoming standard for finer particles is

         10  implemented the entire City will be out of

         11  compliance.

         12                 From the perspective of ozone, only

         13  Los Angeles is ranked higher in the list of

         14  categories of non-compliance with the health

         15  standard of ozone or summertime smog.

         16                 And as I mentioned, diesel pollution

         17  is a key part of the reason why New Yorkers breathe

         18  toxic pollutants at levels that are hundreds of

         19  times the EPA safety threshold, Citywide, and of

         20  course the diesel component of that is much, much

         21  higher.

         22                 It is for those reasons that we think

         23  diesel pollution is the City's number one air

         24  pollution health threat. There is no other local

         25  pollution source that emits the unique combination
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          2  of pollutants that add to our asthma emergencies,

          3  our cancer, our ground level summertime smog

          4  problems, and even nutrient pollution in our

          5  reservoir system.

          6                 Simply stated, there is no more

          7  important issue for you to act on and we are glad

          8  you are doing so.

          9                 Now, I want to just finish by

         10  touching on the tour buses themselves. You have

         11  already heard about the emission tests that have

         12  been conducted by West Virginia University, it is

         13  detailed in my written testimony and I won't go over

         14  those same numbers again, but let me just note that

         15  these are buses that are cruising along City streets

         16  in some of the most congested parts of the City, the

         17  most congested parts of the nation. They are

         18  cruising down residential streets, in many cases

         19  idling way, way, way longer than allowed under the

         20  City's anti-idling law, in residential communities

         21  where children are playing outside, or maybe just

         22  walking down the sidewalk, these buses are spewing

         23  their toxic soup into every neighborhood in this

         24  City. And as their business grows, so does the level

         25  of toxic pollution.
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          2                 Even worse, because of the tour bus

          3  companies taking advantage of the loophole in the

          4  Clean Air Act, we know that many of these buses

          5  don't have even the most rudimentary of pollution

          6  controls. Today's proposed changes will aid the

          7  process of cleaning these buses up. By requiring

          8  certificates of conformity and emissions

          9  inspections, City officials will be taking an

         10  important step towards reining in these tour bus

         11  emissions.

         12                 Further, by establishing a mandatory

         13  retirement age, New Yorkers can look forward to much

         14  cleaner buses in years to come.

         15                 Now, there has been some discussion

         16  by some of the previous testifiers about that

         17  mandatory retirement age, in fact the last speaker

         18  noted that he thought that it actually worked

         19  against good maintenance among some of the bus

         20  companies today, and the response, I just want to

         21  explain why we think a mandatory retirement age

         22  makes a lot of sense.

         23                 It makes sense because EPA has been

         24  progressively tightening emission standards for

         25  diesel buses over the course of the last decade.
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          2                 We have seen tighter standards for

          3  nitrogen oxide in 1994 and 1998, new standards will

          4  come into effect for 2004. There are proposed

          5  standards for 2007. Merely allowing the buses to

          6  meet standards that are already perhaps ten-years

          7  old means that the new capital expenditures by these

          8  companies will only be bringing the buses to an

          9  emission level that EPA has already decided is not

         10  adequate, with respect to protecting public health,

         11  with respect to the feasibility of today's

         12  technology.

         13                 So, the City needs to do more and

         14  this is how I will close my testimony. EPA will soon

         15  adopt rules that will take 97 percent of the sulfur

         16  out of highway diesel fuel. Council Member Freed

         17  referred to that just before.

         18                 Sulfur levels will be reduced from

         19  500 parts per million to 30 parts per million. What

         20  that means in plain English is, that one of the key

         21  barriers to cleaner diesel buses will be removed.

         22  Just like removing lead from gasoline was the key to

         23  using catalytic converters in the 1970s and 1980s

         24  and finally cleaning up America's cars, removing

         25  sulfur will remove the key barrier to particulate
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          2  traps and filters and nitrogen oxide controls that

          3  can achieve 80, 90 percent remission reduction or

          4  perhaps even more.

          5                 So, we urge you to take several steps

          6  after this one. First, to require the use of low

          7  sulfur diesel as soon as it is available, and we

          8  encourage you to adopt the EPA level of 15 parts per

          9  million.

         10                 Second, to require that all buses on

         11  the roads be retrofit with particulate traps or

         12  comparable emission control equipment so it can take

         13  advantage of the emission reductions that low sulfur

         14  diesel finally allows.

         15                 And, third, we encourage you to

         16  follow the example of the City's Department of

         17  Transportation, which has said no more diesel, and

         18  has said we are going 100 percent to natural gas.

         19  Because it virtually eliminates particulates in the

         20  related toxics, because it sharply reduces

         21  smog-forming gases and because it has a sound long

         22  record of good operating experience.

         23                 The tour bus industry has brought a

         24  lot of good to the City. Millions of Americans we

         25  have heard about it today and we see them every day,
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          2  are coming to Manhattan and increasingly to

          3  Brooklyn. I have seen them in Brooklyn. I wouldn't

          4  be surprised if one or two crossed into the Bronx

          5  this week, as well.

          6                 Many people get their first and maybe

          7  their most lasting impressions in New York from

          8  sitting on one of those buses. We, of course, see

          9  them every day as well and we have a very different

         10  impression of the buses themselves. It doesn't have

         11  to be that way. Today's action is the first step,

         12  but there is much more that you can do that other

         13  cities, like Los Angeles, are doing, and we

         14  encourage you to take those steps as well.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 Council Member Freed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you,

         20  Madam Chair.

         21                 I did want to follow up on the

         22  question about the low sulfur fuel. And my

         23  understanding is that the Governor actually signed a

         24  bill requiring even prior to the federal passage of

         25  a bill on low sulfur fuel to require a phase-in of
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          2  all the MTA buses?

          3                 MR. KASSEL: What the Governor did was

          4  he made a commitment that the MTA would shift to low

          5  sulfur diesel at a level of 30 parts per million,

          6  which is somewhat higher than the 15 that EPA will

          7  be requiring, if it finalizes this proposal. That is

          8  an important first step. It is a fantastic step. And

          9  the reason why it is an important step is not just

         10  because the sulfur reduction will lower emissions

         11  themselves, but because, again, getting back to the

         12  lead analogy, diesel fuel has in it naturally very

         13  high levels of sulfur which acts as a barrier to the

         14  most advanced emission controls.

         15                 We saw that with gasoline in the

         16  1970s, and in that case it was the lead that was

         17  being added to the gasoline that was the barrier to

         18  the catalytic converter. Today it is the sulfur. So

         19  I was really pleased the last speaker said he was

         20  interested in looking into that issue, because it is

         21  actually a very low-cost way to get significant

         22  emission reductions. BP has announced they will be

         23  selling low sulfur diesel next year in the west

         24  coast at an incremental cost of roughly a nickel a

         25  gallon, and the cost of the particulate trap is
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          2  depending on the vehicle, the engine used, the age

          3  of the vehicle, ranges from about $3,000 to a

          4  maximum of about $9,000, and considering that you

          5  can get about 90 percent emission reductions,

          6  particulate emission reductions, from the baseline,

          7  there is just no cheaper way to clean up an existing

          8  bus and I think the Governor's commitment, the

          9  Assembly's leadership in bringing that about and the

         10  Council's consistent, consistent urging and advocacy

         11  on this really opened the door to a similar solution

         12  to the tour buses.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Yes, I think I

         14  should point out I think I have the bill in.

         15                 MR. KASSEL: I know you do.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: It requires as

         17  a phase-in.

         18                 MR. KASSEL: And I would like to point

         19  out to everybody here that Councilwoman Freed has

         20  been a real champion on this issue for years and

         21  years and years and we often see each other in the

         22  environmental committee, and on transportation

         23  matters, but for those of you who don't get into

         24  those forums, she has been just fantastic, and

         25  Chairwoman, I am glad that you have taken on this
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          2  issue and brought it to Consumer Affairs.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 MR. KASSEL: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          8                 This meeting is adjourned.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 11:55 a.m.)
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